IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RICHARD BIRKHEAD

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

V.

FILED NO. 2007-KA-0666-SCT

MAR 1 0 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Justin T Cook, MS Bar No. 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Richard Birkhead

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RICHARD BIRKHEAD

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2007-KA-0666-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

ISSUE FOUR:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT DISMISSING JUROR BLACK WHEN HE WAS ASLEEP DURING INTEGRAL TESTIMONY IN THE STATE'S CASE.

ISSUE FIVE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL WHEN THE LEAD INVESTIGATOR IMPERMISSIBLY COMMENTED ON APPELLANT'S EXERCISE OF HIS POST-MIRANDA RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.

ISSUE SIX:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT GAVE JURY INSTRUCTION CR-12.

ISSUE SEVEN:

WHETHER THERE WAS CUMULATIVE ERROR THAT DEPRIVED THE APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Richard Earl Birkhead, the Appellant in this case, is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds form the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for capital murder against Richard Earl Birkhead following a jury trial on March 5-8, 2007, honorable Margaret Carey-McCray, Circuit Judge, presiding. Mr.

Birkhead was subsequently sentenced to life imprisonment in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections without the possibility of parole.

FACTS

In the early morning of July 13, 2003, police were dispatched to a disturbance at the Jubilee Casino in Greenville, Mississippi. (T. 243). When police officers responded to the dispatch, they drove by and saw a red Cadillac with one white male in the front seat and one black male in the back seat. (T. 243). Officers turned around and as they were approaching the Cadillac, saw an individual exit and walk and a rapid pace away from the vehicle. (T. 245-46).

Officers followed the man, and he was detained. (T. 249). Upon receiving the subject's identification, officer's identified him as Richard Earl Birkhead (hereinafter "Mr. Birkhead"). (T. 282). Police noticed that the individual had blood on his clothing. (T. 250-51).

While detaining Mr. Birkhead, the officers received a radio transmission that there had been a stabbing of the man in the Cadillac. (T. 282). Nearby, police discovered a knife under a vehicle in the path that the subject had walked. (T. 249).

Police who arrived at the Cadillac saw an elderly white male slumped over in the vehicle. (T. 330). The gentleman was bleeding from a chest wound. (T. 331). Officers Attempted to perform CPR on the gentleman while waiting for medical personnel to arrive. (T. 331). When paramedics arrived, they rushed the victim to the hospital where he was pronounced dead. (T. 334). This individual would be identified as Walter Lanier (hereinafter "Mr. Lanier.").

Upon being arrested, police recovered blood-stained money from the front left pocket of Mr. Birkhead. (T. 407). Analysis of the blood on the money indicated that it was that of Mr. Lanier. (T.760). The stains contained on Mr. Birkhead's pants also tested positive for Mr. Lanier's blood. (T. 763). Mr. Birkhead's DNA was found on Mr. Lanier's shirt. (T. 761). Mr. Birkhead's palm and fingerprints were also found at the scene. (T. 679-680).

Mr. Birkhead was subsequently indicted for the murder of Mr. Lanier. (C.P. 09, R.E. 14). The state originally sought the death penalty, however, the trial court concluded that the defendant was mentally handicapped and, therefore, granted Defendant's Motion to Preclude the State of Mississippi from Seeking the Death Penalty.

Mr. Birkhead was subsequently tried. The jury deliberated for approximately an hour and a half before returning a guilty verdict against Mr. Birkhead. (T. 873, C.P. 236, R.E. 15). Mr. Birkhead was subsequently sentenced to life without parole in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (C.P. 238, RE 16).

On March 19, 2007, the defendant filed a Motion for New Trial and J.N.O.V., claiming that the verdict was contrary to law and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. (C.P. 244, R.E.18). Feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court, the Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal. (C.P. 240, R.E. 17)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it ruled that there was no *prima facie* case of discrimination on the part of the State despite the fact that the State used all of its peremptory challenges against African-American members of the venire. The trial court inappropriately concluded that the *prima facie* analysis is concerned with both the members of the venire who were

accepted and the ones who were struck.

Furthermore, a death certificate containing the victim's "time of injury" was inadmissible because it was violative of both the Appellant's constitutionally-mandated right of confrontation and the Mississippi Rules of Evidence.

Moreover, the trial court erred when it did not dismiss a juror when the juror was noticeably asleep during the testimony of the lead detective in the investigation. It was impossible for the juror to properly weigh the evidence presented against the Appellant, and, therefore, the Appellant was prejudiced.

The trial court further erred when it denied defense counsel's motion for a mistrial after the same witness impermissibly commented on the Appellant's exercise of his post
Miranda right to remain silent, consequently prejudicing the Appellant.

There was further error when the trial court gave jury instruction CR-12 which improperly commented on the believability and credibility of the proceedings and resulted in a prejudicial outcome. Lastly, these errors, when taken separately, or in concert, warrant reversal and remand for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT THE DEFENSE HAD NOT ESTABLISHED A *PRIMA FACIE* CASE OF DISCRIMINATION ON THE PART OF THE STATE DESPITE THE STATE USING ALL OF ITS PEREMPTORY STRIKES AGAINST AFRICAN-AMERICAN MEMBERS OF THE VENIRE.

I. Standard of Review.

"[A] trial court's determination of whether a showing of racial discrimination has been made will not be reversed unless it is 'clearly, erroneous, or against the overwhelming weight

of the evidence." Johnson v. State, 792 So. 2d 253, 256-57 (Miss. 2001) (citing Stewart v. State, 662 So. 2d 552, 558 (Miss. 1995)). The Court "will not overrule a trial court on a Batson ruling unless the record indicates that the ruling was clearly erroneous or against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." Manning v. State, 765 So. 2d 516, 519 (Miss. 2000) (citing Thorson v. State, 721 So.2d 590, 593 (Miss. 1998).

ii. The Trial Court Erred in Finding That a Prima Facie Case Had Not Been Established.

Trial counsel then made a *Batson* challenge as to the jurors struck by the state: "Your Honor, at this time the defense would raise a <u>Batson</u> challenge. All of the jurors that the State has struck have been black. . . . and we ask for a race neutral reason as to why those jurors were struck." (T. 193-94).

The trial court then, on its on accord, asked "What's the present makeup of the jury?" (T. 194). After some dialogue between the two sides, the following dialogue occurred:

MS. WHITE-RICHARD: I thought *Batson* was based on the race of the people that you strike.

THE COURT: It's also based on the composition of the jury as well. You take all of that into consideration. And I'm not going to find that that's a *prima facie* case. (T. 194-95, R.E. 20-21).

The trial court's ruling was clearly erroneous, and the prosecutor should have been required to give his reasons for exercising the challenges in question. When a party makes a *Batson* claim, he or she "must first make a *prima facie* showing that race was the criteria for the exercise of the peremptory strike." *McFarland v. State*, 707 So. 2d 166, 171 (Miss.1997) (citing *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 96-97). "Once the *prima facie* case has been made, the prosecution must supply race-neutral reasons for using peremptory challenges on

minority members. *Bush v. State*, 585 So. 2d 1262, 1268 (Miss.1991)(citing *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 98)." *Walker v. State*, 740 So. 2d 873, 880 (Miss. 1999). Once the prosecutor gives a non-discriminatory reason for exercising the strike, the opponent of the strike then is given an opportunity to show that the reason given by the prosecutor is merely a pretext for discrimination. *Berry v. State*, 802 So. 2d 1033, 1036 (Miss. 2001).

In order to establish a prima facie case of discrimination in the exercise of peremptory challenges, a party must demonstrate:

(1) that he is a member of a cognizable racial group; (2) that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the venire members of the defendant's race; (3) and that the facts and circumstances raised an inference that the prosecutor used his peremptory challenges for the purpose of striking minorities. Walker v. State, 740 So. 2d 873, 880 (Miss. 1999)(quoting Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 80(1986)).

In this case, the fact "[t]hat the prosecutor accepted other black persons as jurors is no defense to a *Batson* claim." *Chisolm v. State*, 529 So. 2d 635, 637 (Miss.1988)(quoting *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 94-96, ns. 18 & 19 (1986)). *See also Conerly v. State*, 544 So. 2d 1370, 1372 (Miss.1989). Therefore, the trial court was in error when it looked towards the racial composition of those members of the jury that the State did not strike in determining whether there was a *prima facie* case of racial discrimination.

Indeed, "A single invidiously discriminatory governmental act' is not 'immunized

¹ This test is somewhat outdated in that it has been held that the party opposing the use of the peremptory challenge is no longer required to show that he or she is a member of a cognizable racial group or that the juror and the party share the same race. *Puckett v. State*, 737 So.2d 322 (Miss.1999). However, the courts continue to quote these requirements to establish a prima facie case of discrimination. *See Flowers v. State*, 947 So.2d 910, 917 (Miss. 2007).

by the absence of such discrimination in the making of other comparable decisions." Chisolm v. State, 529 So. 2d 635, 637 (Miss. 1988)(quoting Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 95 (1986)); McGee v. State, 953 So. 2d 211, 214 (Miss. 2007).

In *McGee*, Justice Dickinson in a specially concurring opinion stated that "the United States Supreme Court made it crystal clear that to prevail on a '*Batson* challenge,' a defendant is not required to demonstrate a pattern or multiple instances of discrimination.

**McGee v. State*, 953 So. 2d 211, 217-18 (Miss. 2007)(Dickinson, J., specially concurring).

"[T]his Court has recognized that a defendant may make a prima facie showing of purposeful racial discrimination in selection of the venire by relying solely on the facts concerning its selection in his case." **Id.**

Therefore, the fact that the State had not exhausted it peremptory challenges or the fact that it left an African-American on the jury panel tendered to the defense does not relieve the State from the *Batson* issue at hand because the *Batson* issue "is concerned exclusively with discriminatory intent on the part of the lawyer against whose peremptory strikes the objection is interposed. *Johnson v. State*, 792 So. 2d 253, 256-57 (Miss. 2001)(citing *Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400, 406 (1991); *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 93-94 (1986)).

In *Walker v. State*, "[T]he prosecutor used seven out of nine peremptory challenges to exclude black persons. The final jury resulted in ten whites and two blacks. . . ." *Walker v. State*, 740 So.2d 873, 880 (Miss., 1999). The *Walker* Court concluded "that an inference of racial discrimination was presented by Walker and that the lower court erred in failing to conduct a *Batson* hearing." *Id.*

In *Berry*, the Court remanded for a *Batson* hearing where the State used all "twelve of its peremptory strikes. . . . Seven white prospective jurors and five African American prospective jurors were stricken, resulting in a jury composed of eleven white jurors and one African American juror." *Berry*, 802 So.2d at 1036. While in *Scott v. State*, 2007 WL 1677944, *5 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), the prosecution used ten of its eleven peremptory challenges on black members. There, the Court held, "The prosecution exercised ten of its eleven peremptory challenges against black members of the venire. Said differently, the prosecution used approximately 91% of its challenges against black members of the venire. Those statistics alone raise an inference of discrimination." *Id.*

In another case, the prosecution used seven of those twelve challenges to exclude black jurors. *Chisolm v. State*, 529 So. 2d 630, 631 (Miss.1988)(*Chisolm I*). The Court noted that under those facts, that "[q]uite apparently Chisolm made a *prima facie* showing meeting the *Batson* criteria." *Id.* at 632. Thus, the Court in *Scott*, *supra*, reasoned,

"If a prima facie showing was 'quite apparent' where the prosecution used seven of twelve challenges against black veniremen and, as a result, the jury was comprised of ten white jurors and three black jurors, it is equally apparent where the prosecution uses ten of eleven peremptory challenges against black veniremen to end up with a jury of ten white jurors and three black jurors." *Scott v. State*, 2007 WL 1677944, *5 (Miss. Ct. App. June 12, 2007).

The Supreme Court again found a prima facie case was established in *Chisolm v.*State, 529 So. 2d 635, 639. (Miss.1988) (*Chisolm II*), where "the prosecution used ten peremptory challenges-nine against black members of the venire." *Id.* at 637. There, the Court found "[a]s in *Chisolm I*, there can be no doubt that Chisolm made his prima facie

showing of purposeful discrimination in the selection of the jury." Id.

The Court has found an inference of discrimination where the prosecutor exercised seven peremptory challenges against African American jurors. *Thorson*, 653 So. 2d at 896. An inference of discrimination was also found where the prosecutor used of nine of eleven peremptory challenges against African Americans. *Manning v. State*, 735 So. 2d 323, 339 (Miss. 1999).

Thus, even though the prosecution in this case left African-American jurors on the panel, the fact that the prosecutor used its first five challenges against African-Americans merits a finding of an inference of discrimination. In fact, the Court of Appeals has noted that it would be "egregious" to use all peremptory challenge against a particular racial group." *Scott v. State*, 2007 WL 1677944, *7 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

iii. Conclusion

Accordingly, the Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in finding that there was not a *prima facie* case of discrimination on the part of the State, and this honorable Court should remand for a *Batson* hearing.

ISSUE TWO: WHETHER THE APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WAS VIOLATED BY THE ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF THE VICTIM'S DEATH CERTIFICATE WHICH PURPORTED HIS "TIME OF INJURY?"

I. Standard of Review

The standard of review for the admission of evidence is abuse of discretion. *Smith v.*State, 839 So. 2d 489, 494 (Miss. 2003)(citing *Farris v. State*, 764 So. 2d 411, 428 (Miss. 2000)). However, when a question of law is raised, the applicable standard of review is de

novo. Biglane v. Under the Hill Corp., 949 So. 2d 9, 14 (Miss. 2007)(citing Cummings v. Benderman, 681 So. 2d 97, 100 (Miss. 1996)).

ii. There is a constitutional right for criminal defendants to confront the witnesses against them.

Part of the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, the Confrontation Clause provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." *U.S. Const. Amend. VI*.

The right of confrontation is deeply rooted in both the common law and in Roman law. The principle that the accused should be permitted to confront his accusers can be found as far back as the Bible. In Acts 25:16, the Roman Governor Festus, when discussing the proper treatment of his prisoner, Paul, stated: "It is not the manner of the Romans to deliver any man up to die before the accused has met his accusers face-to-face, and has been given a chance to defend himself against the charges." *Acts* 25:16.

Due to its incorporation via the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, this procedural right applies to both federal and state prosecutions. *See Pointer v. Texas*, 380 U.S. 400 (1965). The right to confrontation is an essential right of criminal defendants, noted by the United States Supreme Court as a "bedrock constitutional guarantee." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 42 (2004).

The Confrontation Clause exists for several purposes. First, in ensures an adversarial criminal process by allowing for cross examination, "the greatest legal engine ever invented for the discovery of the truth." *California v. Green*, 399 U.S. 149, 158 (1970)(quoting 5 **John Henry Wigmore, Evidence § 1367** (3d ed. 1940)). Secondly, by requiring that