**COPY**

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**RICHARD EARL BIRKHEAD**

**APPELLANT**

**VS.**

**FILED**  
**MAY 21 2008**  
OFFICE OF THE CLERK  
SUPREME COURT  
COURT OF APPEALS

**NO. 2007-KA-0666**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**APPELLEE**

**BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

**APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

**JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD**  
**SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL**  
**MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL**  
**POST OFFICE BOX 220**  
**JACKSON, MS 39205-0220**  
**TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

##

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

*Moore v. State*, 914 So.2d 185, 189 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). As noted by the Court of Appeals in *Knight v. State*, this Court has held that "[t]rust is placed in a trial judge to determine whether a discriminatory motive drives the reasons given for striking a potential juror" and that "[o]ne of the reasons the trial court is afforded such deference when a *Batson* challenge is raised is because the demeanor of the attorney making the challenge is often the best evidence on the issue of race neutrality." 854 So.2d 17, 22 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *Walker v. State*, 815 So.2d 1209 (Miss.

2002)). “Some of the time the unspoken intangible may be the judge’s perception of the prosecutor arising from past experience.” *Collins v. State*, 817 So.2d 644, 656 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

Birkhead is not entitled to reversal on this ground for two reasons. First, the record does not adequately establish the racial makeup of the venire as a whole, the chosen jurors, or the potential jurors struck by the State. The only information in the record regarding the racial makeup of the selected jury and those potential jurors who were stricken by the State is as follows:

- a. The jury was made up of Juror No. 6, a black woman, (Transcript p. 194); Juror No. 8, a black woman, (Transcript p. 194); Juror No. 14, a black woman, (Transcript p. 194); Juror No. 16, a black woman, (Transcript p. 194); Juror No. 17, a black man, (Transcript p. 194); Juror No. 20, a black woman, (Transcript p. 194); Juror No. 22, a black woman, (Transcript p. 194); Juror No. 23, a black woman, (Transcript p. 194); Juror No. 25, a white woman, (Transcript p. 194); Juror No. 31, race and gender unknown; Juror No. 34, a white male, (Transcript p. 196); and Juror No. 44, race and gender unknown. The race and gender of the alternates was not indicated in the record either.
- b. The State’s first five strikes were against black potential jurors.

There was no indication in the record regarding the race of the other potential jurors struck by the State. Thus, there is insufficient information in the record to support Ramsey’s assignment of error on appeal. See *Mason v. State*, 440 So.2d 318, 319 (Miss. 1983); *Jackson v. State*, 684 So.2d 1213, 1223 -1224 (Miss.1996); and *Hansen v. State*, 592 So.2d 114, 127 (Miss. 1991). Furthermore, “there is a presumption that the judgment of the trial court is correct and the burden is on the Appellant to demonstrate some reversible error to this Court.” *Acker v. State*, 797 So.2d 966, 971 (Miss. 2001) (quoting *Branch v. State*, 347 So.2d 957, 958 (Miss.1977)).<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Birkhead also argues that the trial court’s reasoning behind its holding that there was no prima facie case was flawed because the court considered the racial makeup of the selected jurors. (Appellant’s Brief p. 6 - 7). However, the court, itself, indicated that it did not rely solely on the racial makeup of the selected jury but instead, after being asked if *Batson* was based on the race of the potential jurors struck, noted that “it’s also based on the composition of the jury as well. You take all of that into consideration.” (Transcript p. 194 - 195).

Second, Birkhead failed to establish there was a prima facie case of discrimination. In order to establish a prima facie case, Birkhead “was required to show: (1) that he is a member of a ‘cognizable racial group;’ (2) that the proponent has exercised peremptory challenges toward the elimination of veniremen of his race; and (3) that facts and circumstances raised an inference that the proponent used his peremptory challenges for the purpose of striking minorities.” *Puckett v. State*, 788 So.2d 752, 756 (Miss. 2001) (quoting *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 97, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 1723, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986)).<sup>2</sup> “The pivotal question is ‘whether the opponent of the strike has met the burden of showing that proponent has engaged in a pattern of strikes based on race or gender, or in other words, the totality of the relevant facts gives rise to an inference of discriminatory purpose.’” *Id.* at 757. As the Court of Appeals noted in *Chandler v. State*, the Fifth Circuit has held that:

To establish a prima facie case, a party is required to show that the circumstances surrounding the peremptory challenges raise an inference of purposeful discrimination. The trial court should consider all relevant circumstances in determining whether a prima facie *Batson* violation can be established. Factors that give rise to an inference of discrimination include, among others, a pattern of strikes against jurors of a certain race and the party's statements and questions during voir dire. “A prima facie case of racial discrimination requires a defendant to ‘come forward with facts, not just numbers alone.’ ” In this circuit, a trial court's determination that a party has failed to make a prima facie showing is accorded a “presumption of correctness, which can only be rebutted by ‘clear and convincing evidence.’ ”

967 So.2d 47, 52-53 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *Brown v. Kinney Shoe Corp.*, 237 F.3d 556, 561 (5th Cir. 2001)) (*Emphasis added*). Birkhead’s only argument in support of his contention that the State was discriminatory in its use of peremptory strikes was the fact that the State “used its first five

---

<sup>2</sup> As noted by this Court in *Puckett v. State*, the holding of *Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 113 L.Ed. 411 (1991) eliminated the first two factors required by *Batson*. 788 So.2d 752, 756-57 (Miss. 2001) (citing *Bush v. State*, 585 So.2d 1262, 1267-68 (Miss. 1991)).

challenges against African Americans.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 10). However, as the Court of Appeals held in *Gilbert v. State*, “[t]he number of peremptory strikes which the State used against the minority members, standing alone, is insufficient to establish an inference to a pattern of purposeful discrimination.” 934 So.2d 330, 337 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *Dennis v. State*, 555 So.2d 679, 681 (Miss. 1989)). Moreover, as noted in *Collins v. State*, the test is simply whether Birkhead has shown that the State had an established “pattern of striking all or almost all of a certain racial group.” 817 So.2d 644, 656 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Birkhead did not as evidenced by the fact that jury was made up of predominantly African Americans.

Accordingly, Birkhead’s first issue is without merit as the record does not adequately establish the racial makeup of the venire as a whole, the chosen jurors, or the potential jurors struck by the State and as Birkhead failed to establish that there was a prima facie case of discrimination.

## **II. ADMISSION OF THE VICTIM’S DEATH CERTIFICATE WAS NOT A VIOLATION OF THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE.**

Birkhead argues that “the Appellant’s constitutional right to confrontation was violated by the admission into evidence of the victim’s death certificate which purported his ‘time of injury’.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 10). However, the Fifth Circuit has held that “public records are not testimonial in nature.” *U.S. v. Morgan*, 505 F.3d 332, 339 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007). *See also U.S. v. Lopez-Moreno*, 420 F.3d 420, 437 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005) (holding that “the Supreme Court stated that business records, which are analogous to public records, are ‘by their nature . . . not testimonial’ and not subject to the requirements of the Confrontation Clause”). As the Court of Appeals noted in *Frazier v. State*, “non-testimonial hearsay does not trigger the need for confrontation to be admissible.” 907 So.2d 985, 997 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Thus, admission of the death certificate into evidence did not violate Birkhead’s right to confront the witnesses against him.

### **III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE DEATH CERTIFICATE INTO EVIDENCE.**

Birkhead also argues in the alternative that the death certificate was inadmissible under the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. (Appellant's Brief p. 14). "The admissibility of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court, and absent abuse of that discretion, the trial court's decision on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed on appeal." *Porter v. State*, 869 So.2d 414, 417 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing *McCoy v. State*, 820 So.2d 25, 30 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)). "When the trial court stays within the parameters of the Rules of Evidence, the decision to exclude or admit evidence will be afforded a high degree of deference." *Id.*

Mississippi Code Annotated § 41-57-9 states as follows:

Any copy of the records of birth, sickness or death, when properly certified to by the state registrar of vital statistics, to be a true copy thereof, shall be prima facie evidence in all courts and places of the facts therein stated. A facsimile signature of the registrar shall be sufficient for certification when the certificate shall have impressed thereon the seal of the Mississippi Department of Public Health.

Additionally, Mississippi Rule of Evidence 803(9) states as follows:

The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule, even though the declarant is available as a witness:

\* \* \*

(9) Records of Vital Statistics. Records or data compilations of vital statistics, in any form, if the report thereof was made to a public officer pursuant to requirements of law.

This Court held in *Shell v. State*, that "a death certificate clearly falls under the language of this hearsay exception." 554 So.2d 887, 898 (Miss. 1989) (*rev'd on other grounds*). Accordingly, the death certificate was admissible.

However, Birkhead correctly notes that this Court in *Flowers v. State*, held that the introduction of a death certificate in a criminal case is permitted, but the use of the certificate is limited to physical cause of death. 243 So.2d 564, 565 (Miss. 1971). Birkhead then argues that the

“death certificate was introduced to show more than the physical cause of death” noting that it “contained a ‘time of injury’ statement which alleged the time in which the victim was assaulted.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 17). While Birkhead did object to the admission of the birth certificate on this ground, when the trial judge properly held that under the Mississippi Rules of Evidence the certificate was admissible, Birkhead failed to ask that the now complained of portion of the certificate be redacted or that the judge give a limiting instruction regarding the complained of portion of the certificate. Thus, Birkhead cannot now complain that the jury was allowed to see this portion of the certificate as the issue of redaction or a limiting instruction was never brought before the trial court.

**IV. THE DEFENDANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING THE ISSUE OF DISMISSAL OF A JUROR AS THE ISSUE WAS NOT BROUGHT BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT.**

Birkhead next argues that “Juror Brown was sleeping during an imperative point of testimony during trial, and therefore, should have been dismissed.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 18). However, Birkhead is procedurally barred from raising this issue as the issue was not brought before the trial court. During trial, the prosecutor informed the court that one of the jurors was asleep. (Transcript p. 585). The record indicates that the juror woke up just before the court sent a bailiff to give him a glass of water. (Transcript p. 586). The court indicated that it would watch this particular juror closely from that point forward and the prosecutor continued with his direct examination of the witness. (Transcript p. 586). At no point during the trial did Birkhead request that this juror be dismissed. The issue was also not addressed in his motion for new trial. It is well established Mississippi law that “failure to raise an issue at trial bars consideration on an appellate level.” *Walker v. State*, 913 So.2d 198, 224 (Miss. 2005).

Furthermore, this Court held in *Norris v. State*, that there was no reversible error not only

because the trial judge gave a sufficient justification for leaving the [sleeping] juror on the jury” but also because “there was no timely complaint by counsel to the juror continuing to serve.” 490 So.2d 839, 846 (Miss. 1986). In the case at hand, there was no complaint at all made by Birkhead to the trial judge regarding the juror in question continuing to serve; therefore, the trial judge did not state for the record his reasons for not dismissing the juror. However, “the trial judge observed the matter first hand and was in a better position to determine whether or not the juror was asleep” and/or how long he had been asleep. *Williams v. State*, 919 So.2d 250, 253 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Additionally, “[t]he judicial determination of whether a juror is fair and impartial will not be set aside unless such determination is clearly wrong.” *Magee v. State*, 966 So.2d 173, 182 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *Smith v. State*, 802 So.2d 82, 86 (Miss. 2001)). There is nothing in the record which indicates that the trial court’s decision to leave the juror in question on the panel was “clearly wrong.” Unlike in *Church v. Massey*, 697 So.2d 407, 413 - 414 (Miss. 1997), the case relied on by Birkhead, in which the record clearly indicated that the juror in question slept through much of the trial, the record in this case shows that this juror was only asleep temporarily and was awakened immediately upon the Court’s realization that he was asleep. Moreover, the Court noted on the record that it would closely watch the juror in question and there was no indication on the record that there were additional problems with this juror.

As Birkhead failed to raise this issue before the trial court, the issue is procedurally barred. Notwithstanding the bar, however, Birkhead is not entitled to a new trial as there was no indication from the record that the trial judge’s decision not to dismiss the juror was “clearly wrong.” Thus, this issue is without merit.

**V. THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL BASED A COMMENT REGARDING THE DEFENDANT'S EXERCISE OF HIS RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.**

Birkhead also argues that “the lead investigator in the case improperly commented on the Appellant’s exercise of his *Miranda* rights” and that therefore, the trial judge should have granted a mistrial. (Appellant’s Brief p. 21). “This Court has held that whether to grant a motion for mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court.” *Rollins v. State*, 970 So.2d 716, 720 (Miss. 2007) (quoting *Carpenter v. State*, 910 So.2d 528, 533 (Miss.2005)). “Furthermore, the standard of review for denial of a motion for mistrial is abuse of discretion.” *Id.*

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the investigator’s comments. After defense counsel moved for a mistrial, the trail court held as follows:

I’m not going to grant a mistrial, but I’m going to give an instruction right now reminding them that there is a constitutional right to remain silent and that that - - and that applies at any kind of criminal proceeding and that is not to be used against the defendant or considered against the defendant in any way.

(Transcript p. 596). The trial court gave the following instruction:

This witness has just testified about the defendant’s exercise of his constitutional right to remain silent. It’s a right that all of us would have if we were criminal defendants in a case, and that is not to be considered against the defendant in any way. It’s a right that he has that he can exercise. So I want you to disregard that statement entirely and certainly not give it any consideration or weight in this case.

(Transcript p. 597). It is well-established Mississippi law that jurors are presumed to have followed the court’s instructions. *See Gossett v. State*, 660 So.2d 1285, 1292 (Miss. 1995) (holding that the trial court was within its authority in denying the defendant’s motion for mistrial after testimony that the defendant exercised his *Miranda* rights as the trial judge gave a cautionary instruction and as “the jury is presumed to have followed the court’s instructions”). *See also Higgins v. State*, 502 So.2d 332, 335 (Miss. 1987) (holding that “the court admonished the jury to disregard [the comments on

the defendant's intention to remain silent] and it is presumed that the jury followed the instruction of the law"); *Dixon v. State*, 519 So.2d 1226, 1229 (Miss. 1988) (holding that the Court found "no error where the jury is presumed, upon instruction, to disregard"); *Long v. State*, 934 So.2d 313, 316 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (holding that "jurors are presumed to follow the instructions of the court" and that "to presume otherwise would be to render the jury system inoperable"). The trial court addressed the matter via a cautionary instruction and refused to grant a mistrial. The trial court properly presumed that the jury would disregard the testimony as they were instructed and therefore, no prejudice could result. Thus, the trial court acted within its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial.

Birkhead also notes that "compounding the problem was the trial court's limiting instruction which did nothing more than spotlight the fact that Mr. Birkhead exercised his rights under both the federal and state constitutions." (Appellant's Brief p. 23). However, Birkhead did not object to the trial court's giving this limiting instruction during the trial and in fact, said "okay" after the trial judge indicated that she planned to give the limiting instruction. (Transcript p. 596). Thus, Birkhead cannot now complain of it. See *Bynum v. State*, 929 So.2d 324, 333 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

Furthermore, even if it were error for the trial court to deny the motion for mistrial, the error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Birkhead's guilt. See *Gossett v. State*, 660 So.2d 1285, 1291 - 92 (Miss. 1995) and *Austin v. State*, 384 So.2d 600 (Miss. 1980). In the case at hand the evidence that Birkhead killed Mr. Lanier while robbing him was overwhelming and included, but was not limited to, DNA evidence as well as testimony from a police officer that Birkhead was seen at the scene of the crime just after the crime was committed. (Transcript p. 243 - 246, 761, and 763). Thus, any error in refusing to grant a mistrial was harmless.

**VI. THE DEFENDANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM ARGUING THAT JURY INSTRUCTION CR-12 PREJUDICED THE JURY AS HE FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE INSTRUCTION.**

Birkhead also contends that “jury instruction CR-12 prejudiced the jury.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 24). However, Birkhead is procedurally barred from raising the issue as he did not object to the trial court giving the instruction and in fact affirmatively stated on the record that there was no objection to the instruction. (Transcript p. 824). The Mississippi Court of Appeals held in *Bynum v. State* that the defendant waived appellate review by not objecting to the jury instruction at trial and, similarly to the case at hand, the Court noted that not only did the defendant fail to object but also affirmatively stated that there was no objection. 929 So.2d 324, 333 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). *See also Wells v. State*, 849 So.2d 1231, 1237 (Miss. 2003) (holding that “the failure of an offended party to properly object to a jury instruction bars the issue on appeal”). Accordingly, this issue is without merit.

**VII. THE DEFENDANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM ARGUING CUMULATIVE ERROR AS THE ISSUE WAS NOT BROUGHT BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT.**

Lastly, Birkhead argues that he is entitled to a new trial pursuant to the cumulative error doctrine. (Appellant’s Brief p. 25). However, he is procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal as it was not raised before the trial court. *See Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098 (Miss. 1998); *Maldonado v. State*, 796 So.2d 247, 260 -261 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001); and *White v. State*, 958 So.2d 241, 246 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

Procedural bar notwithstanding, “where there is no reversible error in any part, [there can be] no reversible error to the whole.” *Doss v. State*, 709 So.2d 369, 401 (Miss. 1996) (citing *McFee v. State*, 511 So.2d 130, 136 (Miss. 1987)). Thus, as the trial court committed no errors, Birkhead’s cumulative error argument is without merit.

## CONCLUSION

The State of Mississippi respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the conviction and sentence of Richard Earl Birkhead as the trial court committed no reversible errors.